### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

## **RECEIVED**

03-21-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

No. 2016AP002211-CR Milwaukee Co. Circuit Court Case No. 2014CF1273

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ORLANDO LLOYD COTTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

### **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX**

Appeal from a Judgment and Order Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Honorable Clare L. Fiorenza, Presiding

> Randall E. Paulson State Bar. No. 1010266

PAULSON LAW OFFICE Counsel for Defendant-Appellant 2266 N. Prospect Ave., Suite 450 Milwaukee, WI 53202-6333 [414] 202-9447

##

### **ISSUES**

1. Is Cotton entitled to dismissal because the evidence was insufficient on all three counts?

The trial court found the evidence was sufficient.

2. Alternatively, is Cotton entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice?

The trial court denied the postconviction motion's request for a new trial in the interest of justice.

3. Alternatively, is Cotton entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his postconviction claim that he received ineffective assistance of trial counsel?

The trial court denied the postconviction motion, and rejected its request for an evidentiary hearing.

### ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither is requested. The briefs can present and develop the issues, making oral argument insufficiently helpful to warrant expenditure of resources. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). The appeal can be decided by applying settled legal principles, making publication unnecessary. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 809.23.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Procedural History**

The complaint and information alleged that, on March 17, 2014, at 2571 North 34<sup>th</sup> Street in Milwaukee, Mr. Cotton possessed cocaine and marijuana with intent to deliver. (2, 6).

When plea negotiations failed, the State added a third charge ("count five" because two other charges pertained to co-defendant Elijah Gilmore), keeping a drug house. (14) (amended information). A jury trial was conducted from March 9-13, 2015, the Honorable Clare L. Fiorenza, presiding.

Count one (possessing cocaine with intent to deliver) was alleged by the State from the outset as having been committed as a party to a crime. (2, 6, 14). Count five (maintaining a drug house) was charged only as a direct-commission-offense throughout the proceedings. (14, 17).

Count two, possessing marijuana with intent to deliver, was charged only as directly-committed offense in the complaint, information and amended information. (2, 6, 14). However, after the evidentiary portion of trial was over, the State filed a second amended information. (17). In it, the State added the allegation that Cotton committed the offense charged in count two as a party to a crime. Consistent with this charging history, the jury was instructed on the elements of all three offenses and the definition of the party-to-a-crime allegations regarding counts one and two. (66:7-19).

In Milwaukee County Case 2014 CF 1274, arising from the same incident, Elijah Gilmore was also charged with possessing cocaine and marijuana with intent to deliver (counts three and four). (2). A copy of Gilmore's sentencing transcript is appended to Cotton's postconviction motion. (33:21-34, PC-App. 101-114).<sup>2</sup>

On March 9, 2015, the trial date in both cases, Mr. Gilmore pleaded to possessing marijuana with intent to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cotton was charged in 2014CF1273; Gilmore was charged in 2014CF1274. It appears the State filed duplicate original charging documents in the two cases, each listing charges against both defendants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Search warrant materials are also appended to this postconviction motion. (33). The motion and its attachments are not paginated as a single document. The Gilmore transcript pages are labeled App. 101-114. The search warrant affidavit pages are labeled App. 115-119. Citations to motion-attachments will be to: "33:PC-App. \_\_."

deliver, and the cocaine charge was dismissed and read in. (33:PC-App. 101). On May 1, 2015, Judge Fiorenza imposed but stayed a prison sentence, placed Gilmore on probation with 60 days in jail as one condition of it, and provided that, upon successfully completing probation, Gilmore could get his record expunged. (33:PC-App. 111-114).

Mr. Cotton was convicted of all three counts on March 13, 2015. (20). On May 22, 2015, Judge Fiorenza imposed concurrent sentences totaling four years of initial confinement and three years on extended supervision. (68:65-70). Cotton timely filed a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief, followed by a postconviction motion. (25, 33). The parties filed briefs. (35, 40). Rejecting Cotton's request for a hearing, the circuit court denied post-conviction relief by order dated September 9, 2016. (43, App. 101-109). Mr. Cotton appeals the underlying amended judgment (28, App. 110-112) as well as the order. (50).

### **Facts**

Police applied for a warrant to search the duplex at 2571 North 34<sup>th</sup> Street. Their supporting affidavit claimed that, within the preceding 72 hours, a confidential informant purchased cocaine from Orlando Cotton. The affidavit did not explain how the confidential informant knew it was Orlando Cotton who made the sale. The affidavit did not state how much money the informant spent, how much cocaine the informant received, or other details. (33: PC-App. 115-120).

Police executed the warrant, recovering 1.08 grams of cocaine, with an estimated street value of \$108.00, and 564.15 grams of marijuana with an estimated street value of \$5,641.00. (2:4). The cocaine was in a very small bottle on a cluttered table, along with cash and drug paraphernalia. (62:107) (testimony of Officer Martinez).

As a tactical squad used a flash-bang to execute a no-knock warrant, the four men inside fled to the upper level of the duplex, which was gutted and apparently undergoing renovation. (61:70). The four men were Cotton, Gilmore, Sean Overton, and a man who gave his name as Jamal Nash (various spellings are found in the record). Police discovered that Nash was Cotton's son, and both are named Orlando Cotton. (61:75; 62:99-100).

According to the prosecutor, Gilmore admitted at his plea hearing that he was responsible for the marijuana in the bedroom. (33:PC-App. 102). Gilmore, personally and through counsel, admitted purchasing the marijuana, bringing it to the house, sharing it with the other people there, and selling it. (33:PC=App. 104). Gilmore told the court he knew where he could go to buy a pound of marijuana. (33: PC-App. 107).

According to Cotton's postconviction motion, docket entries in Gilmore's case indicated that the court reporter filed a transcript of Gilmore's plea hearing, but Cotton's postconviction counsel (undersigned counsel) did not find it in the court file. (33:3).

The prosecutor at Gilmore's sentencing confirmed that Gilmore made these admissions "...to the Court on the day that he pled out..." (33:PC-App. 102). The prosecutor noted that "[t]here was a total of 496 grams of marijuana on the bed, out—I'm assuming, ready to be packaged." *Id.* At Cotton's sentencing, the parties agreed that Gilmore admitted responsibility for the marijuana. Cotton's defense attorney claimed Gilmore not only admitted responsibility for the marijuana on the bed, but further admitted "none of it belonged to [Cotton]." The prosecutor claimed Mr. Gilmore "didn't say that." (68:35). In any event, the jury had not been informed of any admissions by Gilmore.

The jury was never told that Gilmore admitted buying the marijuana and bringing it to the house. The jury was given no information suggesting Gilmore was sophisticated enough to be independently dealing drugs, or that he might have been a leader or lone actor. Instead, here was the first substantive remark in the prosecutor's opening statement: "What you're gonna hear is that on March 17, 2014, last year, almost to the day, a search warrant was executed at a house at 2571 North 34th Street. You're gonna hear that the target of the search warrant was this defendant, Orlando Cotton." (61:70).

Lead officer Paul Martinez, testified that Cotton was "the target of the warrant." (62:29-30). "I knew who my target was. I knew it was this defendant, Mr. Cotton, Sr., if you will, with the date of birth of 01/22/1975; and also for the residence of 2571 North 34<sup>th</sup> Street." *Id.* at 101. Defense counsel did not object to the "target" characterizations.

The jury was not told Cotton was targeted on the basis of one alleged purchase of cocaine from Cotton by an informant. Hence, neither was the jury informed of the informant's identity, why he was believable, or how the informer knew the purchase was made from Cotton.

Despite Gilmore's admissions, and despite the undisputed evidence that Gilmore was solely responsible for hidden firearms recovered during the search, the prosecutor emphasized a theory that Cotton was the ringleader. In closing arguments, the prosecutor noted Cotton was older than the others, and argued he "control[led]" them. (65:51).

Just before their no-knock execution of the search warrant, police knocked down a camera on the porch. Inside, they found a television that provided feed from the outside camera. Windows were boarded up. Next to the rear door, police noticed a small hole said to function as a service window through which drugs could be passed. (62:33-41).

In the front room, there was a table with paraphernalia, and other items scattered around it, including a small jar containing suspected rocks of crack cocaine and currency. Next to the table, on a sofa, police found a large jacket; inside it they found a smart phone, keys, and a Wisconsin Quest card

(a card used to obtain benefits through a state program, "Foodshare").<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 43-54.

In the northwest bedroom, police found numerous documents connecting the bedroom to Gilmore. They also found about a kilo of marijuana and a scale with suspected cocaine residue. *Id.* at 66-69. Officer Martinez claimed that the coat with the phone, keys and Quest card was too large to fit anyone in the house besides Mr. Cotton. Police photographed the coat and its contents but did not inventory them. *Id.* at 105-106.

Police tested numerous items for fingerprints. They did not find Cotton's prints on anything, but they did recover prints of Gilmore, Overton, an Isaiah Tomlin, and someone named Arbuckle. (65:81-82).

Defense counsel sought to introduce the Quest card the police found in the jacket. The State objected that counsel had not given the prosecutor the card until the trial was underway, depriving her of the ability to check it. *Id.* at 49. The court prohibited the defense from entering the card into evidence. *Id.* at 49-50.

Cotton testified that he had no Quest card<sup>4</sup> and denied that the coat with the Quest card belonged to him. *Id.* at 131-132. He was also allowed to testify that he had seen his son near the couch where the coat was found. *Id.* The defense had produced Mr. Nash/Cotton to testify, but the court excluded that testimony after determining that Cotton and his son Nash/Cotton had discussed the latter's testimony in violation of the sequestration order. Cotton testified he had

<sup>4</sup> According to the postconviction motion, this was true in the sense that Cotton did not have a Quest account, either when the warrant was executed, or at trial. The postconviction motion also alleged that the program's website confirms that account holders keep the same account number if they reapply for benefits after previously losing them. (33:6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The purpose of a Quest card was alleged and discussed in the postconviction motion and not disputed. Copies of two Quest cards are appended to the postconviction motion. (33:PC-App. 120).

not sold cocaine, as alleged in the search warrant application, and that he told that to Officer Martinez when he was questioned. *Id.* at 125.

Other facts will be discussed as necessary to develop the argument.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. Because the Evidence was Insufficient, the Convictions Must be Vacated, and Double Jeopardy Bars Retrial.

### A. Legal Standards.

If the State failed to adduce sufficient evidence, retrial is barred under the constitutions of the United States and Wisconsin. *State v. Banks*, 2010 WI App 107, ¶43, 328 Wis. 2d 766, 790 N.W.2d 626. On the other hand, if the evidence presented was sufficient, error(s) requiring reversal will not preclude a retrial. *State v. Perkins*, 2001 WI 46, ¶47, 243 Wis. 2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762.

Because the sufficiency-based and error-based remedies differ, this court should first determine whether insufficient evidence, requiring dismissal with prejudice, effectively moots the claims of error. If this court rejects the claims of insufficient evidence, it should then address the claims of error. *See, State v. Ivy*, 119 Wis. 2d 591, 609-10, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984). This court may, of course, find insufficiency as to some charges and error as to others. *See, id*.

Evidence will be found insufficient only when no jury, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Examining the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom, but excluding speculation and innuendo, there is no possibility that a jury, acting reasonably, could have convicted Cotton. *See, State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990), and *State v. Zimmerman*, 2003 WI App 196, ¶24, 266 Wis. 2d 1003, 669 N.W.2d 762.

# B. The State Presented Strong Evidence of Drug-Related Activity but Insufficient Evidence that Cotton was Involved.

The evidence showed Cotton was present in a house over which he had some measure of control, because his mother owned the duplex and hired him to work on it. Beyond that, what did Cotton do? Did he purchase the cocaine and help hold it for resale? No fingerprint or other evidence showed he even touched it; there wasn't much cocaine; and it was found on a table cluttered with numerous drug- and non-drug related items.

Did Cotton purchase the marijuana and help hold it for resale? The marijuana was much more plentiful than the cocaine, but the bulk of it (as well as a scale with cocaine residue) was found in the bedroom most likely occupied by Gilmore, who admitted that he bought it and brought it to the house—information the jury did not hear.

Did Cotton install the camera on the porch, or hook it up to the television/monitor inside the house? Only speculation supports that notion. So what did he do beyond being there, having failing to destroy the drugs or take action against the others, and running upstairs in response to the flash-bang, noknock entry?

Despite having apparently investigated Cotton before seeking the search warrant, the State presented no evidence to show that Cotton had sold drugs from the home, much less that he acted in concert with Gilmore, with Overton, with his son, or with anyone else as part of a drug dealing business. For example, the State provided no evidence about how often and in what durations Cotton was at the house, aside from Cotton's own admission to having been there recently as a party guest.

The State endeavored to turn these lemons into lemonade with Catch-22 evidence: establishing Cotton's residence at the house would have implied greater knowledge of the activity taking place there but, lacking that evidence, the State

produced as an "expert" its own police witness, Detective Jame The detective opined that the very absence of evidence that Mr. Cotton lived at the house created evidence that he was using it as a stash house, because sophisticated operators know to limit their connections to "stash houses." (64:86). Thus, the lack of affirmative evidence of specific drugrelated activity was transformed into "evidence" of criminality. It is one thing to assume that sophisticated criminals do a better job of covering their tracks than unsophisticated criminals. It is quite another thing to suggest that the absence of tracks, the absence of evidence, is itself evidence. This logic leads to trial by supposition, quite possibly shifting the burden of proof. As discussed in the next section, police witnesses introduced other speculation of this kind—that Cotton must not have been a good landlord or agent, and was likely a drug dealer himself, because he did not intervene to stop the drug activity.

In terms of sufficiency, the evidence of Cotton's non-residence at the house is a net zero: Cotton's failure to live there could demonstrate his lack of connection with the younger men who did live there, and with their activities. While, in theory, Cotton's failure to live at the house could conversely suggest his sophisticated decision to limit his ties, this is conjectural. It is conjectural because the State gave the jury no evidence that Cotton was a sophisticated operator of drug houses.

Even by the time of sentencing, the court had been given little information about what, if anything, Cotton did. The court stated, "Mr. Cotton, I have a—I don't believe you knew nothing that was going on in that house, sir, that that house was not a drug house, a stash house. I have—I couldn't swallow that, sir. I don't know why." (68:49).

The court's statement is telling. Convictions were not permissible based solely on Cotton "knowing" what "was going on in that house." The State bore the burden of proving that Cotton directly committed the crime or "intentionally aid[ed] or abet[ed] the person who directly committed it." Wis. JI Criminal 400 (2005). Merely "knowing" marijuana is present is insufficient to establish criminal liability. The court's

subsequent sentencing remarks underscore the fact that the State, despite its pre-search warrant activity, adduced no evidence of specific acts or statements through which Cotton could be said to have committed or aided or abetted the crimes.

The postconviction court noted that Cotton testified he arrived at the house between 9:00 and 9:30 a.m. and that the search warrant was executed at 10:37 a.m. (App. 105, 102). Therefore, Cotton could have been present for as much as one hour, 37 minutes, in a dwelling that contained numerous items of drugs and drug-related items. Juries and reviewing courts are entitled to infer that Cotton acquired knowledge during that period, but knowledge is not enough.

In *State v. Rundle*, 176 Wis. 2d 985, 1009, 500 N.W.2d 916 (1993), the defendant had ample knowledge his wife was physically abusing their daughter. Moreover, he took no action to stop his wife's criminal conduct. Nevertheless, his knowledge and omissions to act did not constitute either direct commission or aiding and abetting the wife's crimes. "One of the elements of aiding and abetting is that the defendant engage in some conduct (either verbal or overt), that as a matter of objective fact aids another person in the execution of a crime." *Id.* at 985. Moreover, the State must prove that the defendant "had a conscious desire or intent that the conduct would in fact yield such assistance." *Id.* at 989.

As to direct commission, the State seemingly conceded, when it initially charged Cotton as a party to crime as to the cocaine, and, after presenting all its evidence, when it added the party-to-a-crime allegation on the marijuana charge, that it lacked proof that Cotton directly committed all acts meeting the elements of those two charges. Plainly, the lack of fingerprints on the drugs or other items, combined with the ample number of prints and identifiers implicating the others, the most the State arguably showed was that Cotton aided and abetted the others.

But aiding and abetting requires mutuality of purpose between the aider/abettor and the recipient of that assistance. As the court correctly instructed the jury, party-to-a-crime liability requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt that "the person who [directly] the crime [must] know[] of the [aider/abettor's] willingness to assist." (66:8).

In this case, the jury was deprived of the chance to weigh Gilmore's claim that he acted independently and separately from Cotton. The evidence the State did present included no specific indication of what Cotton did or offered to do, much less whether and how he communicated that willingness to coactors.

Appended to this brief, as permitted by Wis. Stat. \$809.23(3)(b) and (c), is a copy of this court's opinion in *State of Wisconsin v. Cham Okery Omot*, No. 2010AP899-CR (Wis. App. December 23, 2010) (unpublished, authored opinion). App. 113-126.

Like Cotton, Omot was proximate to a lot of drugs. Indeed, unlike Cotton, Omot lived on the premises where a roommate apparently kept and sold them. Yet nearness to and knowledge of drugs was insufficient proof that Omot was "concerned in the commission" (*i.e.*, a party to the crime) of possessing them with intent to deliver, or maintaining a house for that purpose.

The State was not entitled to convictions merely because it persuaded a jury that Cotton should have known about activity at the house—either during the approximately 1.5 hours just before the search, or at other times. The State was required to prove that Cotton "intentionally aid[ed] or abet[ed] the person who directly committed" each crime. (66:8). The record contains no such proof.

*Omot* also provides convincing analysis of the need for mutuality of purpose among aiders-abettors and principals. In this case, the State adduced insufficient evidence that Cotton and the others were working in concert.

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