RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-02-2017

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP2211-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ORLANDO LLOYD COTTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CLARE L. FIORENZA, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

There was sufficient evidence to prove that Cotton directly committed the offense of keeping a drug house because there was evidence that he exercised management or control of the house, that the house was used for keeping marijuana and cocaine, and that he knew that the house was used for that purpose. Accordingly, this Court should reject Cotton's argument that there was insufficient evidence to support his conviction on this charge.

When it sentenced Cotton, the circuit court said that "[t]here is clearly sufficient evidence in this case, based upon everything, all of the evidence that the Court heard, . . . for the jury to reach of verdict with respect to guilty on these counts" (R. 68:64.) The circuit court was correct.

II. Cotton is not entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice.

Cotton asks this Court to grant him a new trial in the interest of justice. Under Wis. Stat. § 752.35, this Court may order a new trial in the interest of justice on either of two grounds: "that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried." *State v. Cleveland*, 2000 WI App 142, ¶ 21, 237 Wis. 2d 558, 614 N.W.2d 543.

An appellate court will exercise its discretion to grant a new trial in the interest of justice "only in exceptional cases." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Cuyler*, 110 Wis. 2d 133, 141, 327 N.W.2d 662 (1983)). But Cotton does not argue that this is an exceptional case. (Cotton's Br. 16–20.) Rather, he seeks a new trial in the interest of justice based on his trial counsel's alleged failings. (*Id.* at 16.)

When a defendant argues that he is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice because his trial counsel's deficiencies prevented the real controversy from being fully tried, the appropriate analytical framework is provided by *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *See State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 60, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115. Accordingly, the State will discuss Cotton's arguments in the ineffective assistance of counsel context rather than under the standards governing requests for discretionary reversal in the interest of justice.⁴

III. Cotton's trial counsel was not ineffective.

A. Applicable legal standards.

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. If the court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

To prove deficient performance, a defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that were "outside

_

⁴ One of the grounds for Cotton's request for a new trial in the interest of justice is that the jury did not hear evidence that one of the men present in the house when the police executed the search warrant saw Gilmore bring a scale into the house that morning. (Cotton's Br. 19.) Cotton does not present a developed argument on that issue, referring instead to his discussion of the issue in his postconviction motion. (*Id.*) As this Court has explained, however, an attempt to incorporate a circuit court brief into an appellate brief by reference "is not permissible appellate advocacy." *Bank of Am. NA v. Neis*, 2013 WI App 89, ¶ 11 n.8, 349 Wis. 2d 461, 835 N.W.2d 527. Cotton does not discuss this claim in the ineffective assistance section of his brief. (Cotton's Br. 20–28.)

the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Id. at 690. Counsel's performance is "constitutionally deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness." State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. "The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under 'prevailing professional norms,' not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." $Harrington\ v.\ Richter$, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011) (citation omitted).

demonstrate prejudice, the defendant To affirmatively prove that the alleged defect in counsel's performance actually had an adverse effect on the defense. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Counsel's deficient performance is prejudicial if "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Α reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Thiel, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 20 (citation omitted). The prejudice component asks "whether it is 'reasonably likely' the result would have been different." Harrington, 562 U.S. at 111. "The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable." *Id.* at 112.

A defendant who alleges ineffective assistance of counsel is not automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing on that claim. To obtain an evidentiary hearing on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant's motion must allege, with specificity, both that counsel provided deficient performance and that the deficiency was prejudicial. *See Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313–18. If the claim is conclusory in nature, or if the record conclusively shows that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the trial court may deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing. *See id*. at 310–11.

B. Cotton has not met his burden of showing that his trial counsel was ineffective.

Cotton argues that his trial lawyer was ineffective on five grounds. The circuit court correctly denied Cotton's motion without an evidentiary hearing because the record conclusively shows that he is not entitled to relief on any of those grounds.

"Target" characterization. In her opening statement, the prosecutor told the jury that it would hear that Cotton was the target of the search warrant that was executed at 2571 N. 34th Street. (R. 61:71.) She followed through by presenting the testimony of Officer Martinez, who was in charge of the investigation into drug activity at that residence and who had obtained the search warrant. (R. 62:30.) During Martinez's direct examination, the prosecutor showed him the warrant affidavit and the search warrant and asked him to describe those documents. (Id.) Martinez testified that the warrant "was for the residence of 2571 North 34th Street in Milwaukee" and that "the target of the warrant was Orlando Cotton, black male, date of birth, 1/22 of 1975." (R. 62:31.)

Cotton argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the "target" characterization and for "endors[ing]" it. (Cotton's Br. 22.) He contends that the description of him as the target of the search warrant was "unsupported by the evidence and not subjected to testing." (*Id.* at 19.) But there was evidence to support that description, because the lead investigator, Officer Martinez, testified that Cotton was the target. (R. 62:31.)

Cotton's complaint that his lawyer performed deficiently by not "testing" the officer's testimony fares no better because he has not shown that there was a potential basis for challenging that testimony. That might be a viable claim if trial counsel could have presented evidence that would have undermined Martinez's testimony, but Cotton identifies no such evidence. See State v. Byrge, 225 Wis. 2d 702, 724, 594 N.W.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1999) ("A defendant who alleges that counsel was ineffective by failing to take certain steps must show with specificity what the actions, if taken, would have revealed and how they would have altered the outcome of the proceeding."), aff'd, 2000 WI 101, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477.

Moreover, the search warrant affidavit states that an informant made a controlled buy of crack cocaine from Cotton at 2571 North 34th Street within the preceding 72 hours. (R. 33:55.) Had defense counsel challenged the basis for the officers' testimony that Cotton was the target of the search warrant, that objection likely would have backfired because it would have elicited evidence that an informant had made a controlled buy from Cotton at that house. Cotton has not shown, therefore, that his lawyer was ineffective for not "testing" the officers' testimony that he was the target of the search warrant.

Cotton also criticizes his lawyer for "endors[ing]" the target characterization when he asked Officer Martinez, "[i]n this case, the target was Orlando Cotton, correct?" (Cotton's Br. 22 (quoting R. 63:54).) But Cotton ignores the context of that question. Defense counsel asked it in the course of eliciting testimony from Martinez that Cotton's fingerprints had not been found on any item collected at the scene. (R. 63:53–55.) Defense counsel was not, as Cotton argues, "reinforcing that his client was a target" (Cotton's Br. 22), but making the point that the police failed to find Cotton's fingerprints despite having been the target of the investigation. That was good advocacy, not deficient representation.

Failure to present evidence that Gilmore admitted responsibility for the marijuana found in his bedroom. Cotton's codefendant, Elijah Gilmore, was charged with possession with intent to deliver THC, as a party to a crime, and possession with intent to deliver cocaine, as a party to a crime. (R. 14:1–2.) Cotton and Gilmore were to be tried together (R. 58:2–9), but Gilmore pled guilty just before trial to the THC charge (R. 60:9–11).

Cotton faults his trial counsel for not presenting "evidence that Elijah Gilmore admitted responsibility for the marijuana found in his bedroom." (Cotton's Br. 23.) But he is vague about how counsel could or should have presented that evidence. He seems to suggest that even though Gilmore invoked his Fifth Amendment right not to testify at Cotton's trial (R. 59:9-11), Cotton's constitutional right to present a defense overrides that privilege (Cotton's Br. 23). If that is his argument, he is wrong. "[A] defendant's right to present a defense does not include the right to compel a witness to waive his Fifth Amendment privilege against self incrimination." United States v. Serrano, 406 F.3d 1208, 1215 (10th Cir. 2005); see also State v. Williams, No. 2010AP1266-CR, 2011 WL 292139, ¶ 10 (Wis. Ct. App. Feb. 1, 2011) (unpublished) (R-App. 102) ("courts routinely recognize that a witness's Fifth Amendment right will trump the defendant's right to present a defense").⁵

Alternatively, Cotton appears to be suggesting that the jury should have been informed that Gilmore entered a plea to "having bought the marijuana and having brought it to the house." (Cotton's Br. 24.) But Cotton does not explain how defense counsel should have done that. Even if there

⁵ The State cites *Williams* for its persuasive value pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(b). A copy of the *Williams* decision is included in the appendix to this brief. (R-App. 101–03.)

was a way for counsel to have introduced the fact that Gilmore entered a plea to the charge of possession with intent to deliver THC as a party to a crime, that information would not be evidence that Gilmore admitted to having bought the marijuana and bringing it into the house.

And even if there would have been a way to bring that information to the jury, it would not, as Cotton argues, been evidence that "Gilmore was exclusively responsible for the marijuana." (Cotton's Br. 23.) As the trial court pointed out after Gilmore invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege, "whether or not Elijah Gilmore took responsibility for bringing the marijuana into the residence doesn't negate the fact that this defendant either owned, shared, was in possession, or aided and abetted in that possession, with the intent to deliver." (R. 60:10.) "His taking responsibility doesn't change the charges before this defendant." (*Id.*)

Moreover, the jury heard evidence that Gilmore's backpack was found in the bedroom in which officers found a bag with a pound of marijuana. (R. 62:61–63, 66.) So even without evidence that Gilmore pleaded guilty to the charge, the jury was aware of evidence linking him to the marijuana. And while Cotton characterizes the bedroom as Gilmore's bedroom (Cotton's Br. 23), there was no evidence at trial that it was Gilmore's room. The only evidence linking him to the bedroom was the fact that his backpack was there.

In the sufficiency of the evidence section of his brief, Cotton asserts that "the jury was deprived of the chance to weigh Gilmore's claim that he acted independently and separately from Cotton." (Cotton's Br. 15.) But Cotton does not explain why Gilmore's admission that he bought the marijuana and brought it to the house means that Gilmore claimed to have "acted independently and separately from Cotton." Cotton's guilty plea possessing with intent to

deliver THC as a party to a crime (R. 60:11–12) suggests the opposite.

Cotton has not demonstrated that his trial counsel performed deficiently because he has not shown how counsel could have introduced evidence that Gilmore's plea to possession of the marijuana was an admission that Gilmore bought the marijuana and brought it into the house. Cotton also has not shown that he was prejudiced, because he has not identified any evidence that Gilmore was "exclusively responsible for the marijuana" after Gilmore brought it into the house. Gilmore's plea to possessing the marijuana as a party to a crime did not negate Cotton's liability for also possessing that marijuana as a party to a crime.

Failure to present evidence that the QUEST card belonged to Cotton's son. Cotton argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence that the QUEST card that was in the pocket of a jacket found on the living room sofa, which bore the name "Orlando Cotton," belonged to his son, who is also named Orlando Cotton. (Cotton's Br. 25.) But counsel was prepared to present that evidence through the son's testimony. (R. 64:11–12, 16–17.) The defense was unable to do so because the court prohibited the son from testifying after Cotton violated the sequestration order by speaking to his son about the case in the hallway outside the courtroom shortly before the son was to testify. (R. 65:39–42.)

Counsel's failure to present evidence that the QUEST card belonged to the son resulted from Cotton's violation of the sequestration order. Counsel did not perform deficiently by failing to anticipate that his client would violate the sequestration order and not having an alternate source for that evidence available in the event of his client's misconduct.

Even if counsel's performance somehow could be deemed deficient, Cotton was not prejudiced. Defense counsel successfully undermined the probative value of the QUEST card by eliciting an admission from the lead investigator, Officer Martinez, that he did not know whether the card belonged to Orlando Cotton the defendant or Orlando Cotton the son. (R. 63:18–19.)

Moreover, there was evidence other than the QUEST card that the jacket belonged to Cotton rather than his son. There were keys in the coat pocket that fit Cotton's car, which was parked outside. (R. 63:82.) And, Martinez testified, the coat was a size 2X or 3X. (R. 63:14.) Cotton's son was about six feet tall and slim, while Cotton was "by far the larger" of the men who were in the house, including Cotton's son. (R. 63:85.)

Failure to adequately object to opinion evidence. In his cross-examination of Officer Martinez, defense counsel asked Martinez what Cotton said in response to Martinez's question about the cocaine that was on the living room table. (R. 63:64.) Martinez said that because Cotton said that he was the property manager, it struck Martinez as odd that Cotton claimed to have no knowledge of anything going on in the house because as "a former landlord, . . . if I were to walk into one of my rental properties that I had seen these things . . . I would simply call the police, or I would --." (R. 63:64–65.) Counsel objected that the answer was not responsive. (R. 63:65.) The court asked counsel to repeat the question, which counsel did, and Martinez answered. (Id.)

Cotton argues that his lawyer was ineffective because he "objected but did not move to strike the testimony." (Cotton's Br. 26.) But he does not explain why counsel's failure to move to strike that testimony was deficient performance or why that testimony was prejudicial. This Court will neither develop an appellant's argument for him, see State v. Gulrud, 140 Wis. 2d 721, 730, 412 N.W.2d 139 (Ct. App. 1987), nor address issues on appeal that are inadequately briefed, see State v. Flynn, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 58, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994).

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